IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

)	
)	
)	
)	
)	CA
)	
)	
)	
)	
)	
))))))))

CASE NO. SC06-748

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CAROL STAFFORD HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

GARY LEE CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Fifteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida Florida Bar No. 256919 Attorney for Russell Hudson 421 Third Street West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

(561)355-7600; (561) 624-6560 appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Volumes of the record are indicated by "R," so that "R1 10" refers to page 10 of the first volume of the record. Similarly, volumes of the transcript are indicated by "T."

Bold emphasis in quotations is supplied. <u>Underlined em-</u> phasis is in the original.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A jury convicted Russell Hudson, appellant, of first degree murder of Lance Peller, and armed kidnapping of Jennifer Fizzuoglio. R4 686-88. It recommended a death sentence by a 7-5 vote. R4 747. The court adjudicated him guilty, and imposed a death sentence for the murder and a life sentence for the kidnapping. R4 794-800. He appeals.

A. Around 9:15 p.m. on Saturday, October 20, 2001, Peller died in his apartment at the Tivoli Park complex in Fort Lauderdale of a single gunshot to the top of the head slightly behind the center line. T12 1599-1601. He would have instantly lost consciousness, and died in a minute. T12 1613, 1607. He had cocaine and cocaine metabolites in his blood, indicating ingestion probably within 30-45 minutes of death, and MDMA (ecstasy) was in his urine. T12 1602, 1611.

Peller called Robert Pritchard around 7 p.m., saying he needed a gun because someone had been sent to his place to kill him. T6 703-05. He did not seem nervous. T6 705. He said he

had bailed the man out the week before, and the man was not going to kill him because he was a friend. T6 705-06. It had to do with drugs, Peller was underselling another dealer, and the guy was going to kill him. <u>Id</u>. He said, "he's not going to kill me because he's a friend of mine", and "everything will be alright." T6 706-07. Pritchard thought everything would be okay as Peller "did not sound upset to me." T6 709. Peller thought he could get out of anything. <u>Id</u>. During the conversation, which lasted about 15 minutes, he sounded perfectly calm, he was a very calm individual. T6 713-14, 708.

Sixteen-year-old Jonathan Faley and Brandon Webb were hanging out, and Webb called Peller around 9 p.m. T6 721, 727. Peller said he was busy and to call back; he did not sound upset, scared, anything like that; it sounded like he had a drug deal going down. T6 755, 773.

Unable to get through to him again, they went to his apartment and found him in a puddle of blood in the bathroom. T6 722-23, 725-26, 751-62. The place was a mess, there was cocaine residue in the living room. T6 763. Webb searched for drugs. T6 726-27, 761.¹ Faley said Webb did cocaine on a mirror, but Webb denied it, saying they had already done 3-4 grams. T6 729,

¹ The state's theory was that Peller was the teenagers' drug supplier and they wanted to buy drugs from him that night. T6 686-87 (state's opening statement). Officers found GHB, cocaine, other drugs, and thousands of dollars in Peller's apartment. T10 1335-36.

764-65. They left, but Webb returned in his mother's Suburban, shook Peller, then did cocaine. T6 766-68. Officers arrived as he was leaving at 11:28. T6 768, 792, 802-04.

A deputy found the keys of Peller's Town Car in its ignition, and the car was warm to the touch sometime between 11:28 p.m. and 2:00 a.m. T6 812-13.

Before 11:00 p.m., Jennifer Fizzuoglio's red Mustang was seen, its motor running and no one inside, at a Presbyterian church. T7 827-29. The keys were in the engine the next day and the battery was dead. T7 827-46, 901-02. State's 4-Y, a corroded and jammed Smith and Wesson SW9A gray semiautomatic, serial PAV2775, with a round in the chamber and five in the clip, was found near the same church in July 2002. T8 1028-39, 1042. The bullet in Peller's body was fired from state's 4-Y. T10 1265. On August 28, 2001, Peller had reported the gun missing in a burglary. T7 942-44.

Robert Moreau, who lived with Vincent Bianchi in Tivoli Park, got a call from appellant asking for a ride from a Dairy Queen near where the Mustang and gun were later found, and Moreau picked him up around 10:45 to 11:15 on October 20. T7 955-57, T11 1468. Moreau said he looked regular, quiet, calm, like normal, explaining he "was normal to me. Somebody else might have thought differently"; "out of it" was normal to him.

T7 961-62. Saturday "was a drug night." T7 970. They later went separately to Club Stereo. T7 962-63.

At 10:46 a.m., October 21, a sale at an Exxon station was charged to Peller's credit card. T8 988-98, T11 1455-58, 1464.

The mother of Jeff Stromoski, appellant's roommate, had given Stromoski a black Nissan with a standard shift, and he let appellant make the payments and use the car. T8 1006, 1025. A couple of times he saw a bag in which appellant had a gun. T8 1009-11. About two weeks before the murder, Stromoski peeked in the bag and saw the gun, which was not medium sized, was not shiny, was not a revolver, it was an automatic type. T8 1012-16. It looked like State's 4-Y. T8 1015-16.

Around 10:10 p.m. on October 20, Fizzuoglio flagged down Deputy Bauer at SW 10th Street in Deerfield Beach. T8 1046-49.² She was screaming and crying and hysterical and tried to get in Bauer's car, saying someone was trying to kill her, saying the incident was at the Tivoli complex. T8 1050-51, 1059-60. She seemed intoxicated and said she had just used cocaine. T8 1067. She said she saw her friend get shot. <u>Id</u>. Backup officers said she was very upset, screaming, crying and rambling on, claiming she had seen somebody shot, and said she was doing co-

² Thomas Dunn, a motorist, testified that around midnight that night he saw a hysterical woman in the area; she said someone was trying to kill her and she wanted him to get her out of there. T12 1585-87. Dunn drove away and his wife called 911. T12 1587. He did not see a red Mustang: all he saw was "her and

caine. T8 1077, 1079. She said "they" had armor piercing ammo. T8 1096, 1103-04. Bauer did not see anyone drive in an erratic manner or anything like that. T8 1064-65. Fizzuoglio was taken to a hospital, and she looked distraught when two men picked her up at the hospital the next morning. T8 1057-58, 1105-07.

Deputy Feick was in uniform and in a patrol car in the parking lot at Peller's apartment on the evening of October 21, and other officers were around. T8 111. Appellant arrived in a car, got in a black Nissan and began backing out. T8 1110-13, 1118. Feick stopped him and opened the door. T8 1114. Appellant got out, saying it was his roommate's car. T8 1115. Feick handcuffed him and asked for identification, and appellant took his wallet from his pocket with his hands cuffed behind his back. T8 1115, 1121. Inside were his, Fizzuoglio's and Peller's licenses, and Peller's credit and social security cards. T8 1115-16, T11 1462. In the Nissan were a paper with the name Lance Romance and two of Peller's phone numbers, and a nine millimeter cartridge. T11 1469, T12 1559. Peller was known as Lance Romance. T12 1559.

DNA testing of latex gloves in the apartment showed at least three persons, maybe more, touched them. T10 1227, 1229. The mixture on the gloves could not include or exclude Peller, appellant, Fizzuoglio, Faley, or Webb. T10 1231. There was a

no other vehicles or people." T12 1589.

trace amount not consistent with any of them, so "even if these people are part of that mixture, there's still an unknown person that came into contact with the gloves." Id. Perhaps more than one other person touched them. Id. No one could be conclusively excluded or included. T10 1233. A bloodstain on Fizzuoglio's shirt did not match her, appellant, Peller, Faley or Webb. T10 1234-35, 1240-41. No DNA was on the gun. T10 1233-34. Fizzuoglio's DNA matched a sample from her car's driver's seat. T10 1220. A sample on the gearshift matched an officer and had a partial profile of another donor. T10 1221-22. A steering wheel swab matched appellant, and others were consistent with a mixture of appellant and Fizzuoglio. T10 1243-44. Fingerprints in the apartment matched Peller and Fizzuoglio. T9 1155-56. Appellant's prints were on a glass on the kitchen counter and on sunglasses in the Nissan and a Marlboro pack. T9 1157. Fibers on the bullet in the body matched a Dolphins towel in Peller's apartment. T9 1187-88.

On the night of October 20, Det. Carmody spoke with Fizzuoglio at the hospital. She was very upset and mad that deputies had not believed her, and did not want to make a statement, but then talked about the incident. T10 1314-17. Carmody looked for log sheets at the two Tivoli entrances. T10 1320. One did not have a log sheet, and the other's log seemed useless. Id. The log showed a pair named Philippe and Jennifer

arrived at 9:10,³ around the time of the murder, but he did not check that address or tag number. T10 1367-68. He did not check out the report that Peller's car was warm to the touch around 11:30 p.m. on October 20. T10 1369. He spoke with Fizzuoglio again on October 21, and she made a taped statement, and picked appellant in a photo lineup. T10 1325-33.

Carmody testified from notes he took as Det. Bukata questioned appellant on October 21: Appellant said he went to Peller's on the afternoon of the 20th to get marijuana for resale. T10 1346. He asked to use Fizzuoglio's Mustang; she drove because he could not drive a standard shift. T10 1346-47. She left while he did the sale. T10 1347. Moreau picked him up around 6:30 or 7. T10 1347-48. Appellant said he had been at Peller's some other time that day. T10 1346. He learned about Peller's death at Club Stereo, then went to Club Space in Miami with Catleen Dilger. T10 1347, 1373, 1369-70. Before he went to get his car, he stopped at an apartment at Tivoli to get keys. т10 1374. Carmody said the officers focused on Fizzuoglio and her car and did not make pointed questions about

³ As will be seen, Luis Felipe Mejia's name figures prominently in the case. In the transcript, his name is also spelled "Phillipe," "Philipe," "Filipe," "Filippe," and "Flilepe." Det. Bukata said the man who passed through the gate around the time of the murder, T10 1367-68, spelled his name Phillipe whereas Mejia spelled his name Felipe, T12 1576, but he agreed that "Phillipe" may have been the guard's spelling. T12 1578. The spelling of other names also varies in the transcripts: Bukata's name is sometimes spelled "Bucata," and Peller's name

the murder. T10 1348. Appellant said they should look into Philippe Mejia. <u>Id</u>.

Bukata's account of the October 21-22 interrogation was similar. He added that appellant said Mejia sold Peller "rolls" (ecstasy pills), and Peller owed Mejia about \$4000. T11 1426. Appellant denied kidnapping Fizzuoglio. T11 1431-32. Bukata said someone saw him when she jumped out, and appellant replied that no one in a tow truck saw him. T11 1432. Bukata said he had not mentioned a tow truck, and appellant paused and said, well, I guess it's a good guess on my part. <u>Id</u>. He said he would not hurt a fly and Peller was a good friend and had recently bonded him out. T11 1434. He said Felipe may have had something to do with the murder. <u>Id</u>. Peller gave him two ounces of cocaine. T11 1435. On the way to the jail, appellant said he would never get out and Fizzuoglio was a liar and a bitch. T11 1440.

Det. Libman took notes when Bukata questioned appellant again on October 31, 2001. T10 1288. They discussed Peller's drug dealing and his bonding appellant out. T10 1292. They discussed a phone call, how appellant tried to help Peller, who was price-gouging or undercutting and upsetting people. <u>Id</u>. Appellant mentioned Judd (Justin Dilger, T10 1370) who was afraid of Philippe. <u>Id</u>. Mejia was a supplier and Peller was

appears as "Pella.

undercutting people dealing him drugs. Mejia was Judd's mentor. T10 1293. Appellant denied killing Lance, Mejia did. Id. Appellant was scared of Philippe. Id. A bullet in his car might have his prints. Id. Philippe asked him three weeks prior to take care of the problem and offered a gun. Id. Appellant did cocaine with Lance at his house, two lines. Id. Appellant asked Philippe if it could be solved without killing him and Philippe said no. Id. He tried to save Peller's life. T10 1302. Peller wanted to be "the Scar Face and a drug lord figure" and appellant warned him he was making people upset. Id. Appellant denied killing him, but said he might know who did. Id. He believed Phillipe was responsible. T10 1303. Libman wrote, "Judd would do it himself," but Libman was not sure if it referred to homicide. T10 1304.4 Appellant spoke to Philippe on the phone and tried to save Peller's life. Id. Mejia was a supplier and Lance was undercutting everyone. T10 1305. Three weeks before the murder, Philippe said something to appellant about taking care of the problem (Peller) and offered a gun. T10 1306.

Carmody replaced Libman during the October 31 interrogation, T10 1294, and testified: Appellant went to warn Peller about

⁴ Libman and the other detectives testified from notes about the investigation and seemed to have little independent recollection about what was said. R10 1302, 1370-71, 1292-93, 1296, R11 1427-28. Libman and Bucata made their notes on the same pad. R10 1299. In 90 minutes of interrogation, Libman took

undercutting, taking customers away and selling drugs for a lesser price, and that the person sent him to take care of Peller with a gun. T10 1356. Appellant told the officers he was willing to take whatever he had to, he accepted what was going on; he was a dead man one way or the other, on the street or locked up, it made no difference at that point. <u>Id</u>. If he said someone else did it, he would be a dead man one way or the other and did not mind doing his time. T10 1379. Mejia sent him to the house. T10 1356. When Bukata tried to get him to talk on tape, he laughed and said he was not stupid, and the officers took him to jail. T10 1357.

Bukata testified that on October 31 appellant said he called Mejia from Peller's to try to save Peller, but Mejia said no, meaning there was no way to get out of it. Tll 1478-79. About three weeks earlier, Mejia asked him to take care of a problem (Peller), and offered a gun. Tll 1479-80. On a break, appellant told how he feared for his life, if he opened his mouth he would be killed; he was very nervous. Tll 1480. When Bukata later asked about Mejia, appellant seemed to be crying, weeping and was scared. Tll 1482. Bukata was talking about fully cooperating by telling him about Mejia so he could pursue him. Tll 1483. Appellant said he could not talk about it, he was a dead man either way, did not want to talk about Mejia any more. Tll

four pages of notes. R10 1300-01.

1484.

Bukata secretly taped the discussion while driving appellant back to the jail on October 31. On the tape, appellant said he told Mejia no, and went to try to save Peller or get him out of the county. T12 1500-01. Under Mejia's plan, appellant would go to Peller's home, but Mejia did not know he was there when they talked on the phone. T12 1501-02. Mejia was going to provide everything necessary because Peller was back stabbing him. T12 1502. Appellant wanted to go in before anyone made a move and get Peller out; Peller asked him to call Mejia and see if he could do something to get him out from under it, but Mejia said, "Nope", they had to handle the problem. T12 1502-03. Mejia sought to groom appellant as his second in command; he would be the one Mejia would contact and he would get the dope and rolls. T12 1507.

Bukata was aware of indications there were people outside the apartment at the time of the murder. T12 1538. Also, Moreau told him that Mejia was at Moreau's apartment a five minute walk to Peller's on the night of the murder. T12 1519-20, 1560. In Mejia's car, Bukata found a piece of paper with appellant's name, an arrest number corresponding to appellant's arrest in the present case, the jail's mail address, and the notation "Send money order only, to you." T12 1524-25. After interviewing Mejia, Bukata contacted immigration, which took him

into custody on November 13, 2001, and he was soon deported to Spain. T12 1531, 1562-63.

Appellant never said to Bukata that he was responsible for Peller's death; he denied it every time. T12 1551.

John Coyne, a drug dealer who bought from Peller, said that several weeks after he heard about the murder appellant called him from jail. T12 1622-23. He said that if he hadn't done it, somebody would have done it to him. T12 1623-24. Another time, he asked Coyne to go by Jennifer's to look for a red Mustang. T12 1624-25. Coyne once asked why she hadn't died, and appellant said he had no qualms with any woman or child, men are different. T12 1626. They discussed various women giving an alibi. T12 1626-27.

Fizzuoglio testified that she called Peller on October 20 to say she was coming over and he said alright. T13 1656. He sounded fine. T13 1657. She left her place between 8 and 8:30, and arrived about that time. T13 1658-59. He smiled and hugged her. T13 1659. Appellant was there; he looked at her and shook his head like no. T13 1660. Peller got a call and appellant tried to talk with her. T13 1661. A CD case with cocaine residue was on the table. T13 1662. Peller got off the phone and appellant went toward the bathroom, then turned and crouched with a gun <u>Id</u>. Peller asked how he got his gun. T13 1665. Appellant replied: "Tell me what I want to hear, Lance." T13

1666. Fizzuoglio freaked out and offered money if it had to do with money. <u>Id</u>. The two men were "just going back and forth," having "like a conversation between two people." <u>Id</u>. Appellant picked up a cell phone and said, "Do I have to do this now? Somebody showed up?" T13 1667. Fizzuoglio heard the name Justin. T13 1668. Appellant then wanted to do cocaine. Id.

They all did cocaine and appellant began freaking out. T13 1669. He was saying there were people outside, if he did not do this somebody else would do it and kill everybody including him. T13 1670. Fizzuglio cried and Peller freaked out and could not breathe. Id. Appellant told Fizzuoglio to calm down. Id. He was looking out windows, out the peephole, saying people outside were going to come in and finish the job if he did not do it. When he got on the phone, she thought they might get out of Id. there. T13 1670-71. He was telling them to hide, and Peller entered the bathroom, and she knelt in the bedroom. T13 1671. She thought appellant was paranoid about people being outside. T13 1671-72. Peller asked to use the phone; appellant kicked him a phone and Peller made a call. T13 1672-73.⁵ Fizzuoglio knelt in the kitchen, and appellant came over and asked if she was going to go along with this. T13 1674. She thought she was going to die and kept saying she had a baby and wanted to see her son. Id.

⁵ Peller called his father's number at 9:13 p.m. T11 1443.

Appellant walked to the front door and was "banging his head and banking [sic] his head against the door." T13 1674-75. He grabbed a blanket and shot Peller in the bathroom. т13 1675. There was only one shot. T13 1676. Fizzuoglio was freaking out and appellant told her if she did not stop she was next. Id. He put on latex gloves and began going through things, talking about a ring. T13 1676-78. He said she was going to live. T13 1678-79. He asked her to go to the living room, but she wanted to stay near him so he did not psyche himself up to kill her. Id. He was taking things and giving her pictures of herself and Peller. T13 1680. "He was like: Look, don't you want to keep these?", and she could not believe it. Id. There was cocaine in the kitchen, and he said you could die one or two ways, with a straw up your nose or with a bullet, and they both did cocaine. T13 1681. He was handing her stuff. Id. He had a scale, Peller's wallet, her keys, their cell phones, he had stuff in his pocket. T13 1683. At some point while they were in the apartment she heard the name Mitch. T13 1684-85. She never saw anyone outside. T13 1685. She thought she was going to die. T13 1686.

He said he lost his keys and they would use her car. <u>Id</u>. Lance's neighbor was looking down from the stairs. T13 1688. As appellant pulled out, he drove like he did not know how to

drive a stick shift. T13 1688-89. The gun was under his leg. T13 1689. He was on the phone, trying to figure out where to go; when he got off the phone, he said, "I'm sorry. I have to do this." T13 1691.

She jumped from the car as it was moving, and ran across the street and into a ditch at the I-95 ramp, and he got out, yelling, "I'm not going to kill you." T13 1692-96. She banged on cars and jumped on a tow truck, and appellant pulled alongside and he and the driver were talking, screaming. T13 1696. She ran to a police car, and while she was with the deputy, appellant pulled up and stopped, and she did not see him after that. T13 1696-97.

She went from the hospital to a friend's, and then to Richie Post's house. T13 1719. She told Post what happened and he made a call. T13 1720. Believing he was talking to Justin, she left quickly. <u>Id</u>. Some months later, black men followed her and pulled a gun on her. T13 1766-67. Another time, more than one car tried to run her off the road. T13 1768.

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