IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-748

RUSSELL SCOTT HUDSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY,

CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655

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

Even if the trial court had abused its discretion in permitting the testimony, any error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Defendant's testimony that Gonzalez stated that he stole the gun was brief. The State did not mention the testimony at all during its lengthy initial closing argument. (T. 2058-95) Only after Defendant discussed the gun in his closing argument did not State briefly mention the testimony about stealing the gun (T. 2146) and only in the

context of Defendant's lack of credibility. (T. 2137-46) Moreover, as noted in Issue I, the evidence of Defendant's guilt overwhelming, Defendant's credibility was was already in shambles given its inconsistency on almost every material issue with other evidence, including evidence Defendant presented. Defendant's possession of the murder weapon was confirmed by Stromoski's testimony that he saw Defendant in possession of the gun shortly after Mejia arranged for Defendant to kill Peller, and the discovery of the gun next to where Defendant was after the crime. Additionally, any concern that the jury might have considered Defendant a bad person already arose from Defendant's acknowledgement that he was a drug dealer and being groomed as Mejia's second in command. Under these circumstances, any error in allowing the State to show that Defendant was attempting to mislead the jury did not contribute to his conviction. Thus, any error was harmful at the guilt phase. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Moreover, the theft of the gun was not mentioned at the penalty. Instead, the arguments for CCP were based on the facts that Defendant agreed to kill Peller on Mejia's behalf 3 weeks before the murder, that Defendant announced his intention to kill Peller hours before doing so and that Defendant eventually executed Peller with a shot to the top of his head only after

muffling the shot. Moreover, by that point, the jury knew that Defendant was not only an admitted drug dealer but also a two time convicted murderer. Under these circumstances, any error in the admission of Defendant's testimony that Gonzalez said Defendant participated in stealing the gun cannot be said to have contributed to Defendant's death sentence. As such, any error in the admission of this evidence would be harmless at the penalty phase. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING A COMMENT IN CLOSING.

Defendant next asserts that the trial court abused its discretion by allegedly permitting the State to comment on his alleged silence without record support. However, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the comment.⁷

This Court has held that for the State to have improperly commented on a defendant's exercise of his right to remain silent, it is necessary for the defendant to have actually remained silent. *Hutchinson*, 882 So. 2d at 955; *Downs v. Moore*, 801 So. 2d 906, 911-12 (Fla. 2001); *Valle v. State*, 474 So. 2d 796, 801 (Fla. 1985), *vacated on other grounds*, 476 U.S. 1102 (1986). Here, Defendant had not exercised his right to remain

 $^{^{7}}$ A trial court has broad discretion over the scope of closing argument and the parties are allowed to draw fair inferences from the evidence. *Breedlove v. State*, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982).

silent at any point prior to the comment. Defendant spoke to the police after waiving his Miranda rights at the time of his initial arrest on the charge of kidnapping Fizzuoglio. (T. 1340-50, 1417-34) He again waived his rights and spoke to the police on October 31, 2001. (T. 1278-88, 1471-79) Moreover, Defendant testified during the guilt phase of trial. (T. 1918-2021) In fact, the comment about which Defendant complained directly concerned the content of one of Defendant's statement to the police. (T. 2086) Since the comment was about one of Defendant's statements and Defendant had not exercised his right to remain silent to that point, the comment was not an impermissible comment on Defendant's right to remain silent. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in overruling the objection.

To the extent that Defendant is asserting that the comment was not supported by the record, the issue is not preserved. Defendant's only ground for objection was that both the comment and the testimony that supported it allegedly reference to exercise of the right to remain silent. (T. 2086-87) As Defendant did not assert that the comment was not supported by the evidence below, this issue is not preserved for review. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). The issue should be rejected.

Even if the issue had been preserved, the issue should

still be rejected because it was a proper comment on the evidence. Det. Bukata testified that Defendant informed him while they were still in the police station that Mejia was involved in killing Peller and that Defendant had called Mejia while he was at Peller's apartment to see if a reparations less than Peller's death would satisfy Mejia. (T. 1477-79) The State also presented a tape of a conversation between Det. Bukata and Defendant during the subsequent ride back to the jail during which Defendant again implicated Mejia as having planned and directed the murder of Peller. (T. 1498-1510) During this conversation, Defendant indicated that he was "talking about it now [] because it's kind of an unofficial thing." (T. 1499) In response, Det. Bukata repeatedly urged Defendant to provide evidence to prosecute Mejia. (T. 1500-10) As Defendant had already provided information to Det. Bukata about involvement, it was a reasonable inference that the discussions urging Defendant to cooperate in prosecuting Mejia asked him to testify. As comments based on reasonable inferences from the evidence are proper, the trial court did not abuse discretion in allowing the comment. Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8.

Even if the comment could be considered erroneous, any error was harmless. As argued in Issue I, the evidence against Defendant was overwhelming, Defendant's credibility was nil and

this case was not a credibility contest between Fizzuoglio and Defendant. Moreover, a review of the State's closing argument as a whole shows that it was not asking the jury to convict Defendant because he was refusing to testify against Mejia. Instead, the State was urging the jury to ignore Defendant's attempts to deflect blame onto Mejia and Dilger. Under these circumstances, any error in the comment cannot be said to have contributed to Defendant's conviction or sentence. As such, any error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING TO EXPAND THE JURY INSTRUCTION ON HAC.

Defendant next asserts that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to give a special jury instruction on HAC. However, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.⁸

This Court has repeatedly held that the standard jury instruction regarding HAC is sufficient to apprise the jury of how to apply the aggravating factor. Hoskins, 32 Fla. L. Weekly at S163; Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 473, 478 (Fla. 1993). This Court has held that "not every court construction of an aggravating factor must be incorporated into the jury instruction defining that aggravator." Davis v. State, 698 So.

A trial court's decisions regarding the content of jury instructions are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Hoskins v. State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S159, S163 (Fla. Apr. 19, 2007).

2d 1182, 1193 (Fla. 1997). Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

Moreover, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the requested instruction because the subject matter of the instruction was already covered by the standard instruction. Defendant stated that his purpose in asking for the instruction was to limited the jury's consideration to Peller's suffering. The trial court instructed the jury:

Members of the jury it is now your duty to advise the court as to what punishment should be imposed upon the defendant for his crime of murder in the first degree.

* * * *

Third, the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

Heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil.

Atrocious means outrageously wick and vile.

And cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain and utter indifference to or even enjoyment of the suffering of others;

The kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious or cruel is one accompanied by additional facts that show crime was conscienceless or pitiless and was unnecessarily tortuous to the victim.

Tortuous murders are those that show extreme and outrageous depravity as exemplified by desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another.

(T. 2999-3000, 3001-02) This instruction informed the jury it was the murder that had to be heinous, atrocious and cruel and that to be heinous, atrocious and cruel, the murder had to be unnecessarily tortuous to the murder victim. As Peller was the

only murder victim, the instruction already addressed Defendant's concern about the suffering of Fizzuoglio. Thus, the lower court did not abuse its discretion in denying the requested instruction. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, the trial court also did not abuse its discretion in denying the requested instruction based on its potential to confuse the jury. This Court has held that HAC can be properly found based on a victim's awareness of a defendant's actions directed toward another. Hutchinson, 882 So. 2d at 958-59; Francis v. State, 808 So. 2d 110, 135 (Fla. 2001); Farina v. State, 801 So. 2d 44, 53 (Fla. 2001); Henyard v. State, 689 So. 2d 239, 252-53, 254 (Fla. 1996). Thus, the effect that a defendant's actions have on another person present may heighten the murder victim's fear and contribute to a finding of HAC. However, the requested instruction may have confused the jury about the relevance of such evidence as it told the jury to ignore it. Since the instruction was confusing, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the instruction. See Stephens v. State, 787 So. 2d 747, 757 (Fla. 2001); Trepal v. State, 621 So. 2d 1361, 1366 (Fla. 1993).

V. THE COMMENTS REGARDING HAC DO NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

Defendant next asserts that the State's comments about the suffering of other in the penalty phase closing argument

constitute fundamental error. However, any issue regarding the comments was not preserved and is not fundamental error.

In order to preserve an issue regarding a comment in closing, it is necessary for a defendant to make an object to the comment contemporaneously. *Castor v. State*, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Here, Defendant did not object to the comments in closing at any point. As such, any issue is not preserved.

Because the alleged error is not preserved, this Court cannot grant relief unless Defendant demonstrates that alleged error was fundamental. As this Court has "Fundamental error is error that 'reach[es] down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error.'" Kilgore v. State, 688 So. 2d 895, 898 (Fla. 1997)(quoting State v. Delva, 575 So. 2d 643, 644-45 (Fla. 1991)). In an attempt to meet that standard, Defendant principally relies on the fact that the State discussed the suffering that Peller and Fizzuoglio shared. He asserts that these comments might have directed the jury's attention away from Peller's fear and mental anguish about realizing that he would be killed to Fizzuoglio's concern for her child. However, the State never mentioned Fizzuoglio's child, any actions Defendant took toward Fizzuoglio alone outside of Peller's

conscious presence or any reaction of Fizzuoglio outside Peller's conscious presence. As noted in the last section, actions taken toward others in a murder victim's presence and concern for the safety of those others that those actions engender in a murder victim are properly considered as part of HAC. Hutchinson, 882 So. 2d at 958-59; Francis, 808 So. 2d at 135; Farina, 801 So. 2d at 53; Henyard, 689 So. 2d at 252-53, 254. In fact, here, the evidence showed that Peller's mental anguish was enhanced by Fizzuoglio's presence, Defendant's actions toward her and their effect on her. Once Defendant had placed the call and informed Peller that there would be no reprieve, Peller begged Defendant to let Fizzuoglio go. (T. 2244) As such, the comments about Defendant's actions in the presence of both Peller and Fizzuoglio were not improper, much less fundamental error. Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8.

Moreover, any error in the reference to the suffering of Peller's family cannot be deemed fundamental. The reference itself was brief. No evidence of the family's suffering had been presented to the jury. There was amply evidence of Peller's fear of impending death. Further, the jury heard that Defendant had already been convicted of one murder, how this murder occurred during the kidnapping of Fizzuoglio and how Defendant committed this murder based on a request from Mejia made 3 weeks earlier

in an execution style. Little was presented to rebut these aggravators including no evidence of any mental problems suffered by Defendant. Under these circumstances, it cannot be said that the jury would not have recommended death had the brief mention of Peller's family not be allowed. As such, any error was not fundamental. The trial court should be affirmed.

In an attempt to convince this Court that the fundamental error occurred, Defendant relies on Tape v. State, 661 So. 2d 1287 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), Mills v. Maryland, 486 U.S. 367 (1988), and Yates v. United States, 354 U.S. 298 (1957). However, none of these cases concern assertions of fundamental error based on comments in closing. Instead, Tape and Yates concern whether the submission of an incorrect theory of a crime about which there are several possible methods of proving the crime is harmless error. Mills found error in a jury instruction that could have been misconstrued by the jury. As none of these cases show that comments in closing are fundamental error, the trial court should be affirmed.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING FIZZUOGLIO'S TESTIMONY.

Defendant next asserts that the trial court abused its

discretion⁹ in allowing Fizzuoglio to testify during the penalty phase that Peller knew he was going to die after Defendant claimed that there were other people outside. However, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting this testimony.

This Court and other courts of this state have held that a witness may testify regarding another conduct, demeanor or manner in words that amount to a characterization. Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 23 (Fla. 2000); Branch v. State, 118 So. 13, 17 (Fla. 1928); State v. Santiago, 928 So. 2d 480, 481-82 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006); Jones v. State, 908 So. 2d 615, 620-22 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); Shiver v. State, 564 So. 2d 1158, 1159-60 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). The rationale behind this allowance is that it can be "practically impossible to describe another's appearance in such a manner as to convey to the jury an accurate picture of the emotions shown." Shiver, 564 So. 2d at 1160.

Here, Fizzuoglio had been dating Peller for a couple of months, saw Peller almost every day during that time and spoke to Peller every day. (T. 1647-48) As such, she had amply opportunity to observe how Peller behaved. She was attempting to describe at what point in the hour she spent in Peller's apartment Peller expressed concern for her safety. (T. 2243-44)

 $^{^{9}}$ A trial court's decision to admit evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Ray, 755 So. 2d at 610; Zack, 753 So. 2d at 9.

Instead of say that it was after Defendant pulled out a gun, Defendant and Peller had a conversation Fizzuoglio did not fully understand, Peller hyperventilated, Fizzuoglio calmed Peller, Defendant called someone at Peller's request to ask if Peller had to die, Defendant had received a negative response and the group had each done a line of cocaine and before Peller asked to use a phone to say goodbye to his parents and did so, Fizzuoglio simply described the timing as when Peller knew he was going to die. Moreover, Fizzuoglio was describing how Peller was pleading with Defendant not to harm Fizzuoglio while accepting his fate. (T. 2244-45) Under these circumstances, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Fizzuoglio to testify as she did. It should be affirmed.

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